RECEIVED

OCT 22 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF
APPEALS FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT

Appellate Case No. 2018-001170

In re: Mt. Hawley Insurance Company Petitioner,

In Which Contravest, Inc., Contravest Construction
Company, and Plantation Point Horizontal Property
Regime, as assignees, are Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

NELSON MULLINS RILEY &
SCARBOROUGH LLP
C. Mitchell Brown
William C. Wood, Jr.
Blake T. Williams
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

ANDREW K. EPTING, JR., LLC
Andrew K. Epting, Jr.
46A State Street

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Does South Carolina law support application of the “at issue” exception to the attorney-client privilege such that a party may waive the privilege by denying liability in its answer?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

This Certified Question involves a fundamental principle of South Carolina law, as the answer will shape the contours of the attorney-client privilege in this State. The District Court’s order giving rise to the question presented applied an exception to the attorney-client privilege that has never been recognized by an appellate court of this State, and utilized a test for analyzing waiver (“the *Hearn* test”) that conflicts with South Carolina law. *Hearn* has been criticized by courts and commentators and has lost favor due to the potential for unfair and inconsistent results. As detailed below, the *Hearn* test conflicts with existing South Carolina precedent governing waiver of the attorney-client privilege, which is sufficient to support answering the Certified Question “no.” However, if the Court is inclined to adopt a specific test, the test from *Rhone-Poulenc Rorer Inc. v. Home Indemnity Co.*, 32 F.3d 851 (3d Cir. 1994) comports with South Carolina law, and should be adopted. This test supports that waiver occurs only where a party “interjected the advice of counsel as an essential element of a claim in this case,” meaning the party “asserts a claim or defense, and attempts to prove that claim or defense by disclosing or describing an attorney client communication.” *Id.* at 864.

Regardless of the analysis applied, the Court should answer the Certified Question in the negative. As detailed herein, to hold otherwise would deprive insurance companies of one of the

¹ Pursuant to Rule 244(b), SCACR, the Court’s review is limited to the Certification Order. The Certification Order sets forth “the question[] of law to be answered, all findings of fact relevant to the question[] certified, and a statement showing fully the nature of the controversy in which the question[] arose.” *Id.* The Court “will not consider any documents or other evidentiary materials unless the certifying court has submitted those materials.” *Id.* Prior to the Court’s action on a Certification Order, a party may notify the Court and the certifying court that it believes additional materials from the record are necessary. Respondents did not make such a motion.

Therefore, because the Fourth Circuit did not submit any evidentiary materials and Respondents did not move to add materials to the Record, the Statement of the Case is limited to the facts and background set forth in the Certification Order. In accordance with this restriction, Mt. Hawley sets forth the background from the Certification Order verbatim.

foundational privileges recognized at law in any suit in which bad faith is alleged. The Court should decline to recognize such a fundamentally unfair rule.

The Fourth Circuit's Certification Order provides the following background:

Mount Hawley provided ContraVest Construction Company ("Contravest") with excess commercial liability insurance from July 21, 2003, to July 21, 2007. During that period, Contravest constructed the Plantation Point development in Beaufort County, South Carolina. In 2011 the Plantation Point Horizontal Property Regime Owners Association ("the Owners Association") sued Contravest for alleged defective construction of Plantation Point. Mount Hawley refused Contravest's demands to defend or indemnify Contravest in the suit, as Contravest contended was required by its insurance policies, and Contravest ultimately settled the case.

Contravest and the Owners Association subsequently sued Mount Hawley in South Carolina court, alleging bad faith failure to defend or indemnify, breach of contract, and unjust enrichment. Mount Hawley removed the case to the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441 (2012), and federal subject matter jurisdiction exists under 28 U.S.C. § 1332 (2012) based upon complete diversity of citizenship between the parties and damages alleged to be greater than \$75,000.

During discovery, the plaintiffs sought production of, first, Mount Hawley's file on Contravest's claim for excess coverage relating to the Plantation Point suit, and later, Mount Hawley's files relating to all of Contravest's claims under its excess liability policies. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1), 34(a)(1)(A). Mount Hawley contended that these files contained material protected by the attorney-client privilege, and produced the files in redacted form with accompanying privilege logs. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(5)(A).

The plaintiffs filed multiple motions to compel, arguing that Mount Hawley waived the attorney-client privilege as to these files. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(a)(3)(B)(iv). The district court adopted the recommendation of the magistrate judge, granted the motions to compel, and ordered Mount Hawley to produce the files for in camera inspection. *Contra Vest Inc. v. Mt. Hawley Ins. Co.*, 273 F. Supp. 3d 607, 622-23 (D.S.C. 2017). The district court subsequently denied Mount Hawley's motion for reconsideration.

Mount Hawley then sought a writ of mandamus from this court to vacate the district court's order granting the motions to compel.

In its petition for a writ of mandamus, Mount Hawley challenges the district court's holding that the relevant files were not protected by the attorney-client privilege because Mount Hawley put them "at issue" in the case by denying liability for bad faith failure to defend or indemnify. Because this is a diversity action involving claims for which South Carolina law provides the rule of decision, South Carolina's law of attorney-client privilege applies. *See Ashcraft v. Conoco, Inc.*, 218 F.3d 282, 285 n.5 (4th Cir. 2000); Fed. R. Evid. 501. In South Carolina the attorney-client privilege is defined as follows:

(1) Where legal advice of any kind is sought (2) from a professional legal adviser in his capacity as such, (3) the communications relating to that purpose (4) made in confidence (5) by the client, (6) are at his instance permanently protected (7) from disclosure by himself or by the legal adviser, (8) except the protection be waived.

Tobaccoville USA, Inc. v. McMaster, 387 S.C. 287, 293, 692 S.E.2d 526, 530 (2010). "In general, the burden of establishing the privilege rests upon the party asserting it." *Wilson v. Preston*, 378 S.C. 348, 359, 662 S.E.2d 580, 585 (2008).

In finding that the relevant files were not protected by South Carolina's attorney-client privilege, the district court relied on *City of Myrtle Beach v. United Nat. Ins. Co.*, No. 4:08-1183-TLW-SVH, 2010 WL 3420044 (D.S.C. Aug. 27, 2010) (unpublished). *City of Myrtle Beach* also involved a bad faith insurance suit under South Carolina law in which the insured sought to compel the insurer to produce the relevant claims file, and the insurer argued that the file contained material protected by the attorney-client privilege. *Id.* at *1-2. The district court adopted the approach articulated in *Hearn v. Rhay*, 68 F.R.D. 574 (E.D. Wash. 1975), as "consistent with established South Carolina law." *Id.* at *5. Applying *Hearn*, the district court found that

there is no per se waiver of the attorney client privilege simply by a plaintiff making allegations of bad faith. However, if a defendant voluntarily injects an issue in the case, whether legal or factual, the insurer voluntarily waives, explicitly or impliedly, the attorney-client privilege. Thus

“voluntarily injecting” the issue is not limited to asserting the advice of counsel as an affirmative defense. A party’s assertion of a new position of law or fact may be the basis of waiver.

Id. (citation omitted).

Applying this definition of waiver, the court in *City of Myrtle Beach* found that “for the purposes of the motion to compel, . . . the [insured] has presented a prima facie case of bad faith,” and the insurer failed to meet its burden of establishing the absence of waiver of the attorney-client privilege on account of the defenses asserted in its answer, including that the insurer acted reasonably and in good faith. *Id.* at *7. The court noted that “[w]hile this ruling amounts to a virtual per se waiver of the privilege in this case, this result is based on the facts and issues presented by [the insurer] in its Answer and its failure to meet its burden as to the applicability of the privilege with this in mind.” *Id.*

In the present case, the district court rejected Mount Hawley’s argument that *City of Myrtle Beach* was inconsistent with South Carolina law in light of the fact that one member of the Supreme Court of South Carolina criticized the *Hearn* decision in a separate opinion concurring in part and dissenting in part. *See Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 291-96, 762 S.E.2d 535, 549-51 (2014) (Pleicones, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) . . .

Following the approach articulated in *City of Myrtle Beach*, the district court concluded that because the plaintiffs had established a prima facie case of bad faith failure to insure, and Mount Hawley in its answer denied bad faith liability, Mount Hawley waived the attorney-client privilege with respect to the attorney-client communications in the claim files, to the extent such communications are relevant under Fed. R. Civ. P. 26. [273 F. Supp. 3d] at 611-23. The court thus ordered Mount Hawley to produce the files for in camera review. *Id.* at 623.

Mount Hawley contends, and we agree, that if South Carolina law does not support the “at issue” exception applied in *City of Myrtle Beach*, the district court’s order granting the motions to compel was erroneous. . . .

Fourth Circuit’s Certification Order at 2-7 (footnotes omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. Summary of the Arguments

The Certified Question presented in this matter is a critical question concerning one of the most sacrosanct of privileges recognized by the law of this State: the attorney-client privilege. The District Court's order relied on an emerging body of federal District of South Carolina case law recognizing a waiver of the attorney-client privilege *under circumstances that have never been recognized by the appellate courts of this State*. The only South Carolina appellate jurist examining the concept applied by the District Court—the “at issue” exception as detailed in *Hearn*—contended that it is inconsistent with South Carolina law.

Existing general principles of South Carolina law as to when a party waives the attorney-client privilege are supportive of Mt. Hawley's position in this matter. However, if the Court is inclined to adopt a specific test for the “at issue” waiver, it will find that courts in other jurisdictions have generally applied one of three standards in examining whether there has been an “at issue” waiver. As detailed below, the most limited test, articulated in *Rhone-Poulenc Rorer Inc. v. Home Indemnity Co.*, 32 F.3d 851 (3d Cir. 1994), is consistent with the law of this State and the important policy underlying the attorney-client privilege.

Additionally, the District Court's holding here expands all tests, even the liberal so-called *Hearn* test, beyond its previously recognized boundaries. At a minimum, to find an “at issue” waiver, even the courts that adopted the liberal *Hearn* standard have all required a party to have affirmatively pled its good faith, reasonableness, or reliance on the advice of counsel. The District Court's order extends this expansive basis for waiver even further, holding that by merely denying allegations of bad faith in its answer and asserting it complied with the terms of the insurance policy, Mt. Hawley waived the attorney-client privilege pursuant to the “at issue”

waiver exception. Adopting such a standard would result in South Carolina becoming one of the least-friendly states towards the attorney client privilege.² The Court should reject such a broad standard as inconsistent with South Carolina law.

The District Court's expansive interpretation of the "at issue" exception eviscerates an insurance company's right to the confidential advice of counsel in any matter in which bad faith could subsequently be alleged. The impact of the District Court's holding means that *any* time an insurer denies acting in bad faith and/or asserts it complied with its policy, it will waive the attorney-client privilege. Under the rule adopted by the District Court, an insurer has two options when faced with a bad faith suit: (1) either defend itself and thereby waive the attorney-client privilege, or (2) admit liability and preserve the privilege. This false choice all but erases the privilege for insurance companies. Moreover, such a rule essentially permits the party's *opponent* to force a waiver of privilege by placing the insurer's bad faith at issue. The Court should decline to adopt such a fundamentally unfair rule.

Furthermore, to the extent the Court finds that waiver applies, if it holds that it only applies in the context of insurance bad faith as Respondents desire, such would deny insurance

² As the Southern District of Florida noted last year, it was unable to find any "case or principle that supports the contention that *merely denying allegations constitutes a waiver of privilege*," and if this position was correct, "it would *eviscerate the attorney-client privilege* or work product doctrine because, as soon as a defendant denied certain allegations, a waiver would occur and privileged documents could be discoverable." *Ctr. for Individual Rights v. Chevaldina*, No. 16-20905-CIV, 2017 WL 5905191, at *7 (S.D. Fla. Nov. 29, 2017) (emphasis added); *see also Lorenz v. Valley Forge Ins. Co.*, 815 F.2d 1095, 1098 (7th Cir. 1987) ("To waive the attorney-client privilege by voluntarily injecting an issue in the case, a defendant must do more than merely deny a plaintiff's allegations."); *Contogouris v. Westpac Res.*, No. 10-4609, 2012 WL 13001036, at *1 (E.D. La. Apr. 11, 2012) ("Waiver of the attorney client privilege occurs only in those instances where a party has put a specific fact or argument at issue; not where, as here, the defendant had simply made general denials."); *Carpenter v. Mohawk Indus., Inc.*, No. 4:07-CV-0049-HLM, 2007 WL 5971741, at *10 n.10 (N.D. Ga. Oct. 1, 2007) ("The Court therefore rejects the contentions made by the Plaintiffs . . . that Defendant . . . waived its attorney-client privilege by denying Plaintiffs [sic] allegations in its Answer to Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint.").

companies equal protection under the law. All contracts have an implied duty of good faith and fair dealing under South Carolina law. To hold that insurance companies cannot defend their good faith actions without waiving the right to confidential attorney-client communications—when no other party is constrained by such a rule—would place insurers at a disadvantage when compared to similarly situated persons. Applying the waiver in this context only would lack any rational basis and thus it should be rejected.

Finally, Mt. Hawley urges that if the Court does formally recognize a specific test for the “at issue” waiver, particularly if it adopts *Hearn*, that it do so on a prospective basis only. Mt. Hawley’s actions were in accordance with the law of this State in effect at the time. If the Court recognizes an expansive “at issue” waiver, Mt. Hawley should not be punished for failing to act in accordance with a principle that was not previously recognized in this State.

II. Existing South Carolina law supports Mt. Hawley’s position and not the test applied by the District Court.

A. The attorney-client privilege is an important issue of South Carolina policy.

The attorney-client privilege is a bedrock principle of South Carolina jurisprudence. As this Court has explained, it is “based upon a public policy that the best interest of society is served by promoting a relationship between the attorney and the client whereby utmost confidence in the continuing secrecy of all confidential disclosures made by the client within the relationship is maintained.” *Wilson v. Preston*, 378 S.C. 348, 359, 662 S.E.2d 580, 585 (2008). The attorney-client privilege is “rooted in the imperative need for confidence and trust.” *Hartsock v. Goodyear Dunlop Tires N. Am. Ltd.*, 422 S.C. 643, 647 n.1, 813 S.E.2d 696, 699 n.1 (2018) (quoting *Jaffee v. Redmond*, 518 U.S. 1, 10 (1996)). Moreover, “[a] review of privileges in general reveals the common thread is that public policy *favours the confidentiality* of these communications or information.” *Id.* at 648, 813 S.E.2d at 699 (emphasis added). The Supreme

Court of the United States and this Court have both recognized the attorney-client privilege's "importance to society." *Id.* at 647 n.1, 813 S.E.2d at 699 n.1.

The scope of the attorney-client privilege, and any exceptions thereto, must be viewed through the lens of these underlying principles. If communications in the context of adversary proceedings are not confidential, then there will be no communications, thereby depriving insurers of advice and significantly eroding these principles.

B. South Carolina law on waiver of the attorney-client privilege supports that the Certified Question should be answered "no."

This court generally takes a restrictive view of when a waiver of privilege has occurred. This restrictive view conflicts with the application of the "at issue" waiver as articulated by the District Court and in *Hearn*.

South Carolina courts have stated the general proposition that "[t]he attorney-client privilege belongs solely to the client and can only be waived by the client." *State v. Thompson*, 329 S.C. 72, 76, 495 S.E.2d 437, 439 (1998). As this Court has cautioned, however, "[a]lthough a client may waive his attorney-client privilege, the *waiver must be distinct and unequivocal*." *Id.* (emphasis added). Moreover, "[w]here an implied waiver is claimed, *caution must be exercised, for waiver will not be implied from doubtful acts*." *Id.* at 440 (quoting 28 Am. Jur. 2d *Estoppel and Waiver* § 160 (1966)) (emphasis added).³

Floyd v. Floyd, 365 S.C. 56, 615 S.E.2d 465 (Ct. App. 2005), *superseded on other grounds by* 2008 S.C. Act No. 211, § 1, examined waiver of privilege in the context of the trial doctrine of "opening the door." *Id.* at 92, 615 S.E.2d at 484. The *Floyd* court **did not** consider whether South Carolina law recognizes the "at issue" waiver such that a party might waive the

³ In discussing the doctrine of waiver generally, the Court has also found that "[t]he party asserting waiver has the burden of proof." *SPUR at Williams Brice Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Lalla*, 415 S.C. 72, 91, 781 S.E.2d 115, 125 (Ct. App. 2015).

attorney-client privilege via its pleading. Rather, in *Floyd*, the court found that where a party chooses to forego protection of a rule and introduce evidence or testimony that the opposing party would otherwise be unable to address, then it would be unfair to prohibit the opposing party from addressing the issue. *See id.* In *Floyd*, the party claiming privilege introduced trial testimony that a witness took a certain action because his attorney told him to do so. *See id.* The court found this opened the door to introduction of letters suggesting that the attorney told him to do the opposite. *Id.* Thus, *Floyd* presented an example of a waiver that was “distinct and unequivocal” consistent with *Thompson*. *See Thompson*, 329 S.C. at 76-77, 495 S.E.2d at 439.

This existing South Carolina law already details when a party may waive the attorney-client privilege. As this Court has explained, it must be explicit, and cannot be grounded on doubtful acts. This conflicts with the District Court’s application of the *Hearn* test, which found that waiver may occur even where a party does not expressly assert that it relied on the advice of counsel in either a claim or defense. The Court should continue to adhere its general precedents and reject the District Court’s sweeping “at issue” waiver analysis.⁴ Mt. Hawley did not take any “unequivocal” or “distinct” act supporting a waiver of privilege, and therefore the Court should confirm that the answer to the Certified Question is “no” under South Carolina law.

III. If the Court adopts a specific test for determining whether there has been an “at issue” waiver, it should adopt the most restrictive test since it comports with South Carolina precedent.

A. Courts have applied three tests in determining whether a party has placed privileged communications at issue.

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