**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court**

ON CERTIFICATION OF A QUESTION
FROM THE FOURTH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS

United States District Court for the District of South Carolina
Beaufort Division
The Hon. David C. Norton

Appellate Case No. 2018-001170

In re: MT. HAWLEY INSURANCE COMPANY.....Petitioner,

in which

CONTRAVEST, INC., CONTRAVEST CONSTRUCTION COMPANY
AND PLANTATION POINT HORIZONTAL PROPERTY REGIME OWNERS
ASSOCIATION, INC., as assignees are.....Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

THURMOND KIRCHNER & TIMBES, P.A.
Jesse A. Kirchner, SC Bar No. 70479
Michael A. Timbes, SC Bar No. 69730
Thomas J. Rode, SC Bar No. 77480
15 Middle Atlantic Wharf

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As shown by the entirety of the Fourth Circuit’s order, the text of the certified question fails to address the actual issue that led the Fourth Circuit to certify a question in the first place—whether the “at issue” rule employed by the district court in *City of Myrtle Beach* is consistent with South Carolina law. It is, and to find otherwise would result in this Court recognizing a rule that allows an insurer to cherry pick the information on which it relies and be the gatekeeper of what information should be used to evaluate its own conduct. This is contrary to the settled policy

considerations of this state and the principle that “[w]hether an insurance company is liable for bad faith must be judged by the evidence before it at the time it denied the claim.” *Howard v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 316 S.C. 445, 448, 450 S.E.2d 582, 584 (1994).

This Court should confirm, consistent with *City of Myrtle Beach*, the question of whether an insurer’s claims file is discoverable is, and should remain, a factual question to be determined in the discretion of the trial court. Although Insurer requests the adoption of a new rule in South Carolina, there is no need for this Court to do so because a case-by-case review is necessary. However, to the extent this Court is so inclined, it should adopt a rule like that of *City of Myrtle Beach* or *Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wsh.* 176 Wn.2d 686 (Wash. 2013), as both confirm a rebuttable presumption that an insurer’s claims file is discoverable in a bad faith suit and further employ substantial measures to avoid unnecessary or overly broad disclosure of potentially privileged information. Such a rule strikes a balance between the public interest in favor of discovery and protecting insureds, against the public interest served by the attorney client privilege.

ARGUMENT

- I. **Despite being broadly worded, the fundamental question before this Court is whether the “at issue” analysis applied in *City of Myrtle Beach* finding an insurer’s pre-suit claims file to be discoverable in a bad faith action is consistent with South Carolina law.²**

In its Order, the Fourth Circuit plainly articulated its view of the determinative issue that necessitated the certification of a question to this Court:

² *City of Myrtle Beach* spoke of discoverability in the sense of an “implied waiver of privilege,” yet also found the insurer, failed to meet its burden of establishing privilege. *City of Myrtle Beach*. 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 89725, at 20. Practically, there is no difference between information being “not privileged,” as compared to being privileged but waived. In either scenario the information is “discoverable.” Therefore, Respondent generally uses the term “discoverable” to encompass either or both scenarios.

[Insurer] contends, and we agree, that if South Carolina law does not support the ‘at issue’ exception applied in *City of Myrtle Beach*, the district court’s order granting the motions to compel was erroneous. We have not found any South Carolina authority that appears to definitively answer this question and believe the issue to be sufficiently debatable to warrant certification of the question to the Supreme Court.

(Order at p. 6) (emphasis added).

However, rather than certifying a question that focused on the determinative issue stated above, the Fourth Circuit certified a question—drafted by Insurer—which posed a much different and broader inquiry:

Does South Carolina law support application of the “at issue” exception to the attorney-client privilege such that a party may waive the privilege by denying liability in its answer?

Couched in this broad language, the certified question is based on a false premise and presents a mere hypothetical. In South Carolina, the existence of privilege is a question of fact for which the proponent (here, Insurer) bears the burden of establishing seven elements, in addition to the absence of waiver. *See generally, State v. Doster*, 276 S.C. 647, 651, 284 S.E.2d 218, 220 (1981) (setting forth eight elements of privilege, only one of which is the absence of waiver); *see also, State v. Love*, 275 S.C. 55, 59, 271 S.E.2d 110, 112 (1980) (privilege “is for the trial judge to decide in the light of a preliminary inquiry into all of the facts and circumstances”) (emphasis added). The question as written, fails to recognize these controlling principles of law, rendering any potential answer to the question as written purely advisory. *Contra e.g., Sangamo Weston v. Nat’l Sur. Corp.*, 307 S.C. 143, 148, 414 S.E.2d 127, 130 (1992) (when answering certified questions, this court will not issue advisory opinions nor alter precedent based on questions presented in the abstract).

Also, in limiting the inquiry only to the denials of liability made in the answer leaves the question of little value to the bench and bar. Whether privilege exists or has been waived is subject to constant change based the circumstances from case to case and even over time within a single case. This demonstrates why, in South Carolina, the question of privileged is a fact-based inquiry left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. *Doster*, at 651, 284 S.E.2d at 220.

To illustrate, consider a possible answer to the certified question of: “No, a denial of liability in the answer does not waive privilege.” This response does not foreclose that other actions, such as pleading various affirmative defenses, counterclaims, or offering certain evidence at trial might later waive privilege. Thus, unless this Court is to endeavor to set forth all the factual scenarios in which waiver might result even though a party denies liability in the answer (including other statements in the same pleading that go beyond a mere denial of liability) then it stands that this issue must remain a factual inquiry which is improper for certification. *See* Rule 244, SCACR (“the Supreme Court in its discretion may answer questions of law certified to it by [another court]”) (emphasis added).

While the drafted question may be read to apply to any case, here the issue must be contemplated within the context of an insurance bad faith action. This context matters as demonstrated by the balance of the Fourth Circuit’s order which makes clear the issue for which certification was truly sought is to inquire of the application of the “at issue” doctrine in a bad faith action. The quotation marks around the phrase “at issue” exception demonstrates the phrase is to be defined by reference to the “ ‘at issue’ exception applied by *City of Myrtle Beach*.” (Order p. 6). It is apparent the Fourth Circuit seeks direction on how South Carolina’s laws on the issue of privilege should apply in the context of a bad faith action, framing the argument under

consideration as: “In the present case, the district court rejected [Insurer’s] argument that *City of Myrtle Beach* was inconsistent with South Carolina law[.]” (Order p. 5).

This Court appears to have previously acknowledged that in the face of an ambiguous certified question it should consider “the question (and hence [the] answer) in the context” from which it arises. *See e.g., Hartsock v. Goodyear Dunlop Tires N. Am. Ltd.*, 422 S.C. 643, 653, 813 S.E.2d 696, 702, n. 5 (2018) (Few, J., dissenting, but also recognizing that the reason a certifying court asks a question will help frame the answer). Thus, to be dispositive of the real inquiry and have any value to the bench and bar, the certified question must be read within the context of what the Fourth Circuit found to be the determinative issue and acknowledge that the “at issue” rule referenced in the certified question is that set out in *City of Myrtle Beach*. *See* Rule 244(a), SCACR (the certified question should address the determinative issue of law); *see also Peagler v. USAA Ins. Co.*, 368 S.C. 153, 157, 628 S.E.2d 475, 477 (2006) (in addressing a certified question, this Court is to safeguard the public interest, the policies of this state, and this “Court’s sense of law, justice and right.”); *accord Reynolds v. Ryland Group, Inc.*, 340 S.C. 331, 332, 531 S.E.2d 917, 918 (2000) (demonstrating that certification of a question is a matter within the original jurisdiction of the Supreme Court); *and* Rule 245(a), SCACR (the exercise of original jurisdiction should serve the public interest); *See e.g., Muhler Co. v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 163798, *7 at n. 1 (D.S.C. September 25, 2018) (signaling the federal district court understands that the question certified in the instant case inquires of the application of privilege as between “an insurance company and its own coverage counsel” in “a bad faith suit”).

Therefore, the fundamental question before this Court is whether *City of Myrtle Beach* (and its progeny) is consistent with South Carolina law. It is.

II. Consistent with the law and policy of South Carolina, this Court should confirm that in an insurance bad faith action there is a rebuttable presumption in favor of discoverability of an insurer's complete claims file, including attorney client communications therein that are relative to the fulfillment of the insurer's legal obligation of good faith.

A. Discovery and Privilege in South Carolina.

“In South Carolina the scope of discovery is very broad.” *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 110, 495 S.E.2d 213, 215 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting J. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure* 216 (2d ed. 1996)). While policy dictates that “the public has a right to every man’s evidence,” privilege—including attorney client privilege—exists as “an exception” to this general rule that all relevant evidence is discoverable. *See Hartsock*, 422 S.C. at 647, 813 S.E.2d at 699 (stating “privilege allows a specified person to refuse to provide [] or . . . disclose[evidence],” and finding that privilege is “an exception” to “the normally predominant principle of utilizing all rational means for ascertaining truth”) (quoting *Jaffee v. Redmond*, 518 U.S. 1, 9 (1996) (emphasis added)).

“The purpose of the attorney client privilege is to encourage full and frank communication between attorneys and client and thereby promote broader public interest in the observance of law and administration of justice.” *Id.* at n. 1, quoting *Jaffee*, 518 U.S. at 10. Itself a means of promoting public policy, application of “[a]n asserted privilege must also serve public ends.” *Hartsock*, 422 S.C. at 647, 813 S.E.2d at 699 (internal quotations omitted) (emphasis added). In South Carolina privilege is to be “interpreted by the courts in the light of reason and experience.” Rule 501, SCRE; *Hartsock*, 422 S.C. at 649, 813 S.E.2d at 699 (“Unlike other jurisdictions, South Carolina does not delineate specific privilege through its rules of evidence.”) To establish privilege the proponent must:

“(1) [seek] legal advice of any kind [] (2) from a professional legal adviser in his capacity as such, (3) the communications relating to

that purpose (4) made in confidence (5) by the client, (6) are at his instance permanently protected (7) from disclosure by himself or by the legal adviser, (8) except the protection be waived.”

Id. at 530 citing *Doster*, 276 S.C. 647, 284 S.E.2d 218.³

However, in South Carolina “not every communication within the attorney client relationship is privileged,” instead, “the public policy protecting confidential communication must be balanced against the public interest in the administration of justice.” *Doster*, at 651, 284 S.E.2d at 220. (emphasis added). When interpreting the privilege, it must be narrowly “tailored to protect only confidences disclosed within the relationship.” *Id.*

Privilege is not absolute and will not operate to prevent disclosure where the facts suggest it has been expressly or implicitly waived. See *Tobacoville USA, Inc. v. McMaster*, 387 S.C. 287, 293, 692 S.E.2d 526, 530 (2010); *Doster*, 276 S.C. 647, 284 S.E.2d 218; *Floyd v. Floyd*, 365 S.C. 56, 88-90, 615 S.E.2d 465, 483 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *South Carolina State Highway Dep't v. Booker*, 260 S.C. 245, 254, 195 S.E.2d 615, 620 (1973)) (all confirming that attorney client privilege is not absolute, and is waivable, and the burden is on the party claiming privilege to demonstrate the absence of waiver); see also *State v. Thompson*, 329 S.C. 72, 76-77, 495 S.E.2d 437, 439 (1998) (recognizing implied waiver); *Davis v. Parkview Apts.*, 409 S.C. 266, 293, 762 S.E.2d 535, 550 (2014) (Pleicones J., dissenting) (“it is widely recognized that a client [can] impliedly waive[] the privilege.”). Where privilege has been waived it is waived as to all communication on the same subject. *Marshall v. Marshall*, 282 S.C. 534, 538, 320 S.E.2d 44, 46-47 (Ct. App. 1984).

³ Although distinct from the attorney work-product doctrine, privilege will extend to communications originating from the lawyer rather than the client only if the communication is “based on confidential information provided by the client.” *Brinton v. Department of State*, 204 U.S. App. D.C. 328, 636 F.2d 600 (C.A.D.C. 1980).

The party asserting privilege as a basis to avoid discovery bears the burden of establishing the privilege. *See Love*, 275 S.C. at 59, 271 S.E.2d at 112 (emphasis added). This is a fact-based inquiry. Whether the burden has been met “is for the trial judge to decide in the light of a preliminary inquiry into all of the facts and circumstances.” *Id.* (emphasis added). The failure of the asserting party to establish the privilege and demonstrate that its application serves the public interest leaves the material discoverable. Thus, the law recognizes a rebuttable presumption that information is discoverable—*i.e.*, not privileged. *See Jowers v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 423 S.C. 343, 359, 815 S.E.2d 446, 454, n. 13 (2018) (“A rebuttable presumption is defined as an “inference drawn from certain facts . . . which may be overcome by the introduction of contrary evidence.”) (citing *Rebuttable Presumption*, Black’s Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

B. The “special” relationship between an insurer and an insured in South Carolina.

Much like the law regarding the broad scope of discovery and the establishment of privilege, the law relating to the special relationship between an insured and insurer—particularly in the bad faith context—is driven by public policy.

Since 1933, South Carolina has consistently recognized the insurer/insured relationship to be “special.” *See Tyger River Pine Co. v. Maryland Cas. Co.*, 170 S.C. 286, 170 S.E. 346 (1933) (establishing the well-known *Tyger River* doctrine). This “special” relationship imposes, as a matter of law, certain duties on an insurer that are not imposed on any other entities or in any other commercial transaction in this state. *See Tadlock Painting Co. v. Maryland Cas. Co.*, 322 S.C. 498, 500, 473 S.E.2d 52, 53 (1996); *Nichols v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 279 S.C. 336, 306 S.E.2d 616 (1983) (both recognizing the special relationship between insurer and insured as the impetus for creating a unique bad faith cause of action in tort rather than contract). This stems from the unique nature of an insurance contract, through which (unlike other transactions) the

insured does not contract for any commercial advantage but instead contracts simply for protection from loss or harm. *Hinds v. United Ins. Co. of America*, 248 S.C. 285, 149 S.E.2d 771 (1966). Our Courts have acknowledged that the benefit of the insured's bargain is "peace of mind." *Tadlock*, 322 S.C. at 501, 473 S.E.2d at 54 (the insured is entitled to receive the "security from financial loss" as well as "the additional security of knowing [they] will be dealt with fairly and in good faith.")

This unique, special relationship justifies the heightened duties placed on and accepted by insurers in this state, in order to promote the strong public interest in protecting insureds. *Williams v. Riedman*, 339 S.C. 251, 269, 529 S.E.2d 28, 37 (Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Hinds v. United Ins. Co. of America*, 248 S.C. 285, 149 S.E.2d 771 (1966)). For instance, this Court has acknowledged decisions should be tailored to allay the threat that an "insurance company can, with complete impunity, deny any claim they wish, whether valid or not" while simultaneously retaining "the benefit of profiting on the use of the insured's money." *Nichols*, 279 S.C. at 340, 306 S.E.2d at 619. These heightened duties have led South Carolina Courts to describe this "special" relationship as "quasi-fiduciary." *Pitts v. Jackson Nat'l Life Ins. Co.*, 352 S.C. 319, 333, 574 S.E.2d 502, 507 (Ct. App. 2002) citing *Lira v. Shelter Ins. Co.*, 913 P.2d 514 (Colo. 1996) (emphasis added).

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